#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Following a jury trial in the Circuit Court for Citrus County, the Honorable John P. Thurman presiding, John C. Barrett was found guilty of four counts of first-degree murder<sup>1</sup> and one count of conspiracy<sup>2</sup> to commit first-degree murder, as charged. (R1838-39;3918-22)<sup>3</sup> The jury recommended life sentences, (R1788-89;4012-16), but the trial court imposed four death sentences and a seventeen year sentence of imprisonment on the conspiracy to commit first-degree murder conviction. (R4931-45)

The sentencing order, (R4922-28; Appendix A), shows that Judge Thurman found that all four murders were committed for pecuniary gain<sup>4</sup>, to avoid arrest<sup>5</sup>, to disrupt/hinder the lawful

- <sup>2</sup> A violation of Section 777.04(3), Florida Statutes (1989).
- <sup>3</sup> (R ) refers to the record on appeal.
- <sup>4</sup> Section 921.141(5)(f), Florida Statutes (1989).
- <sup>5</sup> Section 921.141(5)(e), Florida Statutes (1989)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Violations of Section 782.04, Florida Statutes (1989).

exercise of a governmental function or enforcement of laws<sup>6</sup>, and that Barrett had a prior conviction for a violent felony (the murders of the other victims in this case)<sup>7</sup>. (R4923) Judge Thurman also determined that two murders were committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner, with no pretense of moral or legal justification<sup>8</sup>. (R4923)

The trial judge concluded that Barrett had not acted under extreme duress or the substantial domination of another person and that he was not influenced by alcohol at the time of the murders. (R4924-25) The court found that Barrett had no significant history of prior criminal activity, that Barrett has a potential for rehabilitation, and that Barrett is adaptable to prison life. (R4924) The court noted that a co-defendant (Dorsey Sanders, III; R4852) received four life sentences for his involvement in the murders, that Barrett was a good parent, son and brother, that Barrett had served in the military, and that since his arrest Barrett was a model prisoner who demonstrated a sincere conversion to Christianity. (R4924)

The sentencing order affirmatively reflects that Judge Thurman's override of the jury life recommendations was based solely on <u>Zeigler v. State</u>, 580 So.2d 127 (Fla.1991). (R4926) In a detailed analysis that compared the aggravating and mitigating circumstances of the <u>Zeigler</u> case to his perception of the facts

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Section 921.141(5)(g), Florida Statutes (1989).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Section 921.141(5)(b), Florida Statutes (1989).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Section 921.141(5)(i), Florida Statutes (1989).

of the instant case, Judge Thurman found that he could not distinguish Zeigler's case from Barrett's. (R4926-27) The written sentencing order concluded as follows:

> Nothing was kept from the jury that would have made any change in their recommendation and it is believed by this Court that this was their honest opinion based on the entire case.

> But this Court's first duty is to follow the law, and it would be doing a great disservice to our criminal justice system if it allowed a different sentence for you than Mr. Zeigler received.

> This wrong, in substituting the Court's opinion of reasonableness over the juries [sic], if there be wrong, can only be corrected if the reviewing Court is allowed to perform its function.

(R4928).

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

For 27 years, JoAnn Sanders was married to Dorsey Sanders, Jr., D.V.M. (R446;901-03) They had three sons. (R449) When the Sanders divorced in 1984, Dr. Sanders was awarded assets worth \$750,000 and Mrs. Sanders received assets worth \$280,000. (R901-03) She appealed<sup>9</sup> the distribution of property and ultimately was awarded an additional \$480,000 in assets, to be transferred on or before August 8, 1990. (R902-907)

Dr. Sanders owned a 360 acre farm in Melrose, Florida, on which was located International Auto Sales ("IAS"), a business owned by Sanders' son, Dorsey Sanders, III. (R700-704) John Barrett worked part-time at IAS as a mechanic, trading labor to pay a \$6,000 debt he incurred by buying vehicles and parts from IAS. (R1238-42;1254) Barrett, a licensed security guard employed by Wells Fargo and Cooperative Security, also attended Career City College. (R1021-22;1235-37) Barrett had aspirations of becoming a United States Marshall. (R1251)

Barrett mentioned his police related courses to Scott Burnside, who was the general manager of IAS (R693;942;1040), and Burnside asked whether Barrett would be interested in doing some investigative work by following Dr. Sanders' ex-wife to develop information that could be used against her in pending property distribution proceedings. Barrett, excited at the prospect of private detective-type employment, agreed after discussing it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> <u>Sanders v. Sanders</u>, 547 So.2d 1014 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989); <u>Sanders v. Sanders</u>, 492 So.2d 705 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986).

with his common-law wife, Paula. (R1250-52) In that regard, Barrett first cleared all financial matters with Paula, who was responsible for the family budget. (R1408-09;1415-24;1254)

Barrett followed Mrs. Sanders periodically in April of 1990, but found little to report. (R1252-54) Near the end of April, Burnside told Barrett that a court date was approaching and that Dr. Sanders was going to lose most of what he had unless Mrs. Sanders could be made to drop her case. (R1257) Burnside asked Barrett if he knew anyone that could pull a trigger:

> Barrett: I asked [Burnside] about it. I said, "What do you mean?" He said, "Well, we've got to get rid of JoAnn Sanders." And I told him I didn't really, I couldn't really help him out in that. And then he told me, he said -well, what they had in mind, really, was going and picking her up and kidnapping her and driving her off to a wooded area with ski masks on and telling her to lay off Doc or next time she wouldn't be so lucky.

(R1256). Barrett told Burnside that things could not be done that way. (R1258) Barrett was worried about Burnside and, because Paula was also working part-time at IAS, he talked to Paula about Burnside's request. (R1259;1425)

As time passed, Dr. Sanders pressured Burnside to take care of the matter; in return Burnside pressured Barrett. (R1268) One Saturday night in May, Burnside made Barrett show him where Mrs. Sanders lived. Barrett complied, knowing from his prior surveillance that she would not be there. (R1260) During the trip, Burnside told Barrett that, "something had to be done, because Doc was losing his mind, and he was eventually going to

go down there with a shotgun and kill JoAnn Sanders and then just turn the gun on his'elf, because it was tearing him apart." (R1262)

Barrett was told that he would be killed if he said anything to anyone. (R1264) Even so, Paula, who had just started working at a convenience store, was kept informed by Barrett of what was happening. (R1265-66) Paula's brother, John Withers, and Withers' wife lived with the Barrett family in May. (R1268; 958) Barrett helped Withers get part-time employment at IAS (R942), and Withers helped Barrett get a job at the Veterans Administration hospital. (R940)

In school, Barrett saw a training film that contained a brief segment on how to make silencers. (R1027) In July, after having graduated, Barrett asked an instructor from the Career College how to make a silencer in order to get back at people who had assaulted his wife. The instructor refused and told Barrett to go to the police instead. (R1026-27) It was obvious to the instructor that Barrett had been drinking and was very upset. (R1032;1026) Barrett had been a very good student and as part of the basic police courses had been taught use of the PR-24 baton and a .38 service revolver. (R1023-24;1030;32)

At Sanders' farm in July, with Burnside, Dorsey Sanders and Paula present, Barrett built and then test-fired a silencer made from pipe and steel wool. (R1035-39;1041-43;1080-83) Also in July, Paula bought a 9mm "Stallard" which Barrett exchanged for an "AP-9" the same day. (R1007-10) An AP-9 has a flash-

suppressor. (R1010-11) Typically, silencers screw onto the barrel of a pistol, and homemade silencers often cause misfires due to changes in the gas pressures which operate the automatic loading mechanism. (R1096-1101)

Burnside was threatening to harm Barrett's family if something was not done soon (R1269-70) and, at the urging of Burnside, Barrett asked John Withers whether he would help get rid of Mrs. Sanders. (R940;1269-70) Withers testified that Barrett told him that Dr. Sanders wanted Mrs. Sanders killed because of divorce proceedings and that they could be paid \$6,000 apiece for doing so. (R940-42) Withers went to Sanders' farm and verified the proposal with Dr. Sanders, who stated that he would rather have someone else do it because he did not want to get his friends involved. (R943) Burnside told Withers that it should be made to look like a burglary if possible. (R944)

Twice, Withers and Barrett drove to the area where Mrs. Sanders lived. (R964) Their first trip occurred two days after the "make it look like a burglary" conversation with Burnside. Barrett and Withers drove to Floral City, where Mrs. Sanders was remodeling her house with the help of friends. Apparently, no one was home. (R945-47) The second trip occurred about a week after that first trip. (R947) Withers and Barrett drove a Mercury belonging to IAS to Floral City and feigned car trouble near Mrs. Sanders' home. (R948-950) Barrett and Withers went to the house to get water. (R950-51)

After obtaining water, Barrett and Withers returned to the Mercury. Barrett stated, "[we] should do it now." (R952) Withers told Barrett he was crazy. Barrett returned to Sanders' house, thanked them for the water and stated that he would bring some beer by the next time he was in the area. (R953) Withers claims to have been told by Burnside, Dorsey Sanders III, and Barrett that, since he was not going to help and because he knew all about it, they could no carry on with their plan. (R954) When Withers learned of the murders, he told the police the foregoing information. (R956-57) Withers did not believe that Barrett would really do anything to Mrs. Sanders, and at trial he still felt that way. (R964) After the murders, Burnside told Withers that he hoped Barrett would be killed during capture so Barrett could not testify about Burnside's participation in the murders. (R966;971)

Mrs. Sanders testified that she lived in Floral City with her fiancee, Jerry Clark. Roger Wilson stayed with them. (R410) On weekdays they worked on the house and on weekends they went to Weeki Wachee. (R409-11) On Friday, August 3rd, 1990, she left her fiancee and Wilson at the Floral City residence and went to Brooksville to buy supplies. When she returned around noon, John Barrett was there. (R411-13) She recognized him as the person who had previously brought them beer for helping with his vehicle. (R414-15)

Barrett claimed to again be having truck trouble nearby and said that he just walked over to say hello. (R414;444)

Barrett had a twelve pack of beer, which he consumed along with other beer as he helped work on the house. (R415; 417;419;440-42) Around 3:00 o'clock that afternoon, Mrs. Sanders received a call from her father stating that her mother was very sick. (R416) Mrs. Sanders went to check on her mother, who lived less than a mile away. (R417) Sanders' mother had suffered a stroke, and an ambulance and paramedics were summoned. (R419)

Mrs. Sanders briefly stopped by her house and told Wilson that she was taking her mother to the hospital. (R420-21) She heard Roger reply, "That's okay, we'll catch you later." (R421) She turned to exit and saw Barrett, with his back to her, standing by the wall near the kitchen. (R421) Sanders ran out, jumped in her car and left to catch the ambulance. (R421) As she left, however, she saw Barrett's truck parked near her driveway on US 41 and thought that Barrett was there to spy on her. (R423;447) She stopped and obtained a detailed description of the green and white Chevrolet Blazer truck bearing a temporary tag (later found to have been issued to Scott Burnside c/o IAS) and a permanent tag (found to have been issued to IAS). (R423-25;692-93;807-808) She then proceeded to the hospital. (R425)

Bob Hemingway and Larry Johnson lived next to Mrs. Sanders. (R650-51) Another neighbor, Mrs. Cashdollar, saw Hemingway and Johnson around 6:15 p.m. standing next to a dumpster close to Hemingway's house. The men were talking and looking toward Mrs. Sanders' house. (R658-59) When Mrs. Cashdollar left minutes later, Hemingway and Johnson had

disappeared. When she returned around 6:45, she saw Clark's truck turning into Mrs. Sanders' property, but she did not see who was driving that truck. (R659-61)

Around 9:30 p.m., Mrs. Sanders called home to tell Wilson and Clark that she was on her way back from the hospital, but she received no answer, which was not unusual. (R425-27) She arrived home around 10:30. The door was locked, which was unusual. (R427-28) Inside, she saw Roger Wilson lying on the floor where Barrett had been standing earlier. (R429) She thought that perhaps he had passed out from all of the drinking that had gone on that day (R429), and she went into the bedroom where she found Jerry Clark lying in a pool of blood. (R430) She checked and determined that he was cold and unmoving, then ran to another room and called 911. (R430)

Citrus County deputies responded and secured the area. (R491-92) In addition to the bodies<sup>10</sup> found by Mrs. Sanders, deputies found the body of Larry Johnson in the same bedroom as Clark, and the body of Bob Hemingway in a closet at the entrance to that same bedroom. (R496-97) The Medical Examiner performed autopsies the next day. (R451-55;478) Wilson had been shot twice in the back of the head and received no other injuries. (R460) Clark died from a depressed skull fracture/blunt trauma to the head. (R462-64) Hemingway and Johnson died from similar blunt trauma to the head. (R470-75;479) The medical examiner first

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$  The state and the defense stipulated to the identity of all four victims. (R378-79)

concluded that the injuries were consistent with having been inflicted with a 2" x 4" board, but after talking with the prosecutor the medical examiner felt that the wounds had been inflicted with a cylindrical-type object. (R480) The throats of Clark, Hemingway and Johnson had been cut. (R461;466;472)

Deputies found clumps of steel wool scattered on the floor in the area where Wilson had been shot. (R575) Fragments of steel wool were also found in the wall along the trajectory of the bullets that struck Wilson. (R564-65) A spent 9mm shell casing was found in the bath tub. (R572;596) Two 9mm bullets were recovered from the interior walls of the house. (R567-70) The bullets were consistent with having come from a 9mm, "AP-9" pistol, but experts could not be more specific in the absence of a particular weapon because other pistols produce the same general characteristics as those found on the bullets. (R1091-94)

A bloodspatter expert theorized that the evidence was consistent with Clark and Hemingway having been bludgeoned while lying on or near the floor, but he could not tell how or where the first blows were struck. (R636-38;642-43) Johnson appeared to have been dragged to the closet after having been beaten. (R639-40; 645) Knowing from Mrs. Sanders that a person named "John" had been present and drinking beer at her premises when she left, deputies collected eleven "Bud Dry" cans to test for fingerprints; however, numerous other beer cans of different brands were not recovered. (R607-08)

On Sunday, deputies went to IAS and interviewed John Sanders, Scott Burnside and Dorsey Sanders, III. (R709-12) On Monday, the deputies obtained and executed search warrants for IAS and Barrett's residence. (R703) Deputies found in the woods behind Barrett's house the Blazer that had been parked along US 41 near Mrs. Sanders' driveway. The Blazer had been partially repainted and camouflaged with branches. (R647-49;660;748-54;766) Beer cans bearing Barrett's fingerprints were inside the Blazer, and Barrett's fingerprints were on the Blazer. (R790-92;1170-75)

Mrs. Sanders was shown a photographic lineup and she identified John Barrett as the person that had been at her house on Friday when she left to go to her mother's. (R731-37;742) A derringer was found in Barrett's house. (R760) During one of his trips with Withers to Mrs. Sanders' house, Barrett had possessed a derringer and some other type weapon. (R951-52) A towel found in Barrett's house (R761) had a bloodstain that could have come either from John Barrett or Roger Wilson. (R1197-97;1209) One hair, among others, found on that towel was consistent with having come from Roger Wilson. (R1223-24) The expert did not determine whether the hair was consistent with having come from Barrett. (R1227)

Co-workers established that Paula Barrett worked at the Suwanee Swifty convenience store on August 2nd and 4th. (R811-13) Paula had bleached her hair from dark brown to blond. (R820) While at work on August 4th, Paula received flowers at work and a card stating, "Thank you, Paula." (R819-20) Paula destroyed the

card. (R819-20) When Paula got off work that Saturday, she and her supervisor went to Crescent Beach with John Barrett and the Barrett's five children. (R813-14) During the trip, Barrett was very quiet and he took care of the children. (R814-16) That night, Paula's supervisor received a call from Barrett stating that Paula would not be able to work the next morning due to a family emergency. (R816-18)

Paula, John Barrett and their five children were seen by a co-worker the next day at Wal Mart loading their car with groceries. (R823-24) Paula, usually very cool, seemed nervous. (R825) On August 8, Citrus County deputies talked by telephone with Paula Barrett, who was in Hamilton, Ohio, and the deputies and an assistant state attorney (Anthony Tatti, Esq.) immediately flew to Ohio in the sheriff's airplane. (R826-30) The Florida deputies and Tatti, coordinating their efforts with local Ohio authorities, went to Barrett's parents' house. There they talked with Paula, who upon arriving in Ohio had insisted on dying her hair black (R870;1417), and learned that Barrett's brother, Joseph, had driven Barrett to a wooded area. (R858-60)

Joseph, though not arrested, was taken in an unmarked police cruiser to the wooded area where Barrett had been dropped off, and was kept in the police car for eleven hours while an unsuccessful air and ground search was conducted. (R832-37;843-44;873-74) Tatti entered the cruiser periodically. Joseph gave a statement when he was told that Tatti was prepared to file charges against him for aiding and abetting. (R874-76)

John Barrett did not stay where he had been dropped off. Instead of going into the woods to hide, he went to see a friend, Donald Campbell. Campbell came home around 6:00 p.m. on August 8th and found Barrett sitting on his porch. (R1113) Friends for many years, they went to local bars and drank heavily. During this binge Barrett talked about the murders, and told Campbell the following:

> A: (Campbell) We was sitting there at the bar drinking beer, and John -- we was talking back and forth about what he'd been doing, how he was doing, things like that. And he said, like: Well, I've got more now than I've ever had, I've got the trailer, property, cars. He said, "I've got caught up in something down here I can't get out of." He called it a whirlwind. He said, "They call me the golden boy. I've killed four people in Citrus County, Florida."

Q: (prosecutor) Are those his words?

A: Yes.

Q: Did you respond to that statement?

A: I said, "Why did you kill them, John?" He said, "I was contracted to go do this one, I went there to do one, the other ones come in and I had to do those, too."

Q: Did he appear to you to be serious at that point?

A: Yes, very serious.

Q: Did you ask him any other questions?

A: I said, "How did you kill them, John, did you shoot them?" He said, "No, I hit them in the head with a hammer and a pipe." Q: He say anything else about what had occurred?

A: That's pretty well much of what he said about that.

(R1108-09).

Campbell and Barrett, heavily intoxicated, returned to Campbell's house around 2:30 a.m.. Barrett went to sleep on the couch and Campbell went upstairs. (R1110;1116) Campbell's wife called the police, who entered the house with her consent. (R853) Campbell, though told he was not being arrested, was taken to jail for questioning. Campbell gave a statement and was released the next afternoon. (R1111) Barrett, who was unarmed, was arrested at Campbell's house without incident. (R844;854-56)

#### FACTS CONCERNING BARRETT'S STATEMENTS

Barrett was then questioned by Florida Deputy Thompson, Deputy Padgett, and Assistant State Attorney Anthony Tatti, Esq.. Barrett repeatedly invoked his right to counsel during the interrogations, but the Florida officials persisted, using ploys that Barrett's family would be harmed if he did not talk:

Q: (Deputy) Tell us who hired you?

A: (Barrett) I appreciate what you're doing. You're doing your job, and I appreciate that. You're not ass holes. You're just doing your job. And I think you are both (inaudible). If I was to make any kind of statements on any subject without my attorney present, then I'd be going against what a trusting man (inaudible) who was trusted by our family. He's an attorney. I can't make any statement about anything until I sit and speak with my attorney. I have to talk to him. I have to -- I have to talk to my attorney.

Q: So you --

A: That's what I need, sir.

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