IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE AUG 7 1992 CLERK, SURREME COURT By-Chief Deputy Clerk

JOHN C. BARRETT,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 78,743

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR CITRUS COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE INITIAL BRIEF OF CROSS-APPELLANT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARGENE A. ROPER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR. #302015 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The record reflects that the defense did not object when the prosecutor asked Barrett whether he had told Jerry Thompson and Marvin Padgett that Scott Burnside had killed the victims on August 10, 1990 (R 1385). If a question is propounded to a witness that tends to elicit improper testimony, it is the duty of the opposite party to object to and obtain a ruling on his objection. <u>Kersey v. State</u>, 73 Fla. 832, 74 So. 983 (1917). Objections must be made when the testimony is offered, and a party who fails to object timely may not thereafter complain. Lineberger v. Domino Canning Company, 68 So.2d 357 (Fla. 1953). improper testimony is given in response to an improper Ιf question to which no objection is made, a motion to strike is the recognized mode of removing it. Failure to move to strike an answer results in an abandonment of the objection. Ward v. State, 75 Fla. 756, 79 So. 699 (1918). Any argument that Barrett should not have been made to answer such question because he had exercised his right to remain silent is waived. Such argument would be without persuasive authority in any event. It is well settled that a defendant who takes the stand as a witness on his own behalf occupies the same status as any other witness and all rules applicable to other witnesses are likewise applicable to Booker v. State, 397 So.2d 910 (Fla. 1981). It is also him. well settled that a prosecutor may use illegally obtained evidence to impeach a defendant's trial testimony given on direct examination. Michigan v. Harvey, 110 S.Ct. 1177-78 (1990). The privilege to testify in one's own defense does not include the right to commit perjury. Harris v. New York, 401 U.S. 222, 224-The right to remain silent or to stop answering 26 (1971). never told questions is not implicated. Barrett the investigators he wanted the questioning to cease or that he would not talk further. He simply refused to admit to the murders.

The defense later sought to introduce only the video tape of the August 10th statement (R 1438). The trial court properly ruled that such evidence would be hearsay. A trial court should not permit testimony by a defendant as to statements made by him to police officers after a crime relating to his knowledge,

intent and state of mind at the time of the crime when they are self-serving and not part of the res gestae. Watkins v. State, 342 So.2d 1057 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977). In this case the defendant was available to testify as to the circumstances of the August 10th statement and defense counsel was more than happy to have him do so as no objection or motion to strike was made. Barrett fully testified as to reason for his failure to inform the police on August 10th that Scott Burnside had committed the murder. He testified that he knew the police wanted to arrest Burnside for hiring him to kill four people but they were unable to apprehend him and Barrett was, essentially, afraid that harm would be done to his children if he implicated Burnside while he was still at large (R 1386-1387). As the statement of the facts reveals, on August 10th the police suggested that Barrett would not face what he had done and implied that some other person inside of Barrett that he would not recognize had committed the crime. Barrett only agreed that someone else must have done it because it couldn't have been him, as he was not a killer (R 4772-4775). Barrett did not name Burnside as the actual killer in his statement although he had every opportunity to do so. This selfserving statement would not have explained Barrett's prior refusal to implicate Burnside and would not even have been consistent with his trial testimony that he was afraid of Burnside. This statement reveals that Barrett did not know who did it if, indeed, someone else had done it. Since Barrett had no right to commit perjury had he introduced the August 10th statement the state should have been permitted to further

question him about the August 9th statement in which he implicated himself in the crime, although he refused to admit to the actual murders except speaking through a third person, and implicated Burnside as only one of the contractors and the person who had destroyed the evidence after the crime had been committed.

If there was error it was harmless under <u>State v. Diguilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986), since Barrett fully explained the reason why he had not identified Burnside as the killer prior to the time of trial and his August 10th statement would only have demonstrated to the jury that Barrett probably conceived of the idea to name someone else as the killer as a result of actual police questioning.

BARRETT WAS NOT DENIED A FAIR TRIAL TT. AND DUE PROCESS IN VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 1, SECTIONS 2, 9, 16 AND 22 OF THE CONSTITUTION FLORIDA AND THE FIFTH, SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION BY VIRTUE OF ANY DISCOVERY VIOLATION.

Barrett testified that Scott Burnside killed Roger Wilson, and with the help of another unidentified person, most likely killed the other three people who entered the house while he remained outside. Earlier, a fingerprint expert presented by the state testified on cross-examination that he had not compared Burnside's fingerprints to the prints found at the scene (R 898). defense rested, the state recalled the first After the fingerprint expert. He testified that after his earlier testimony the state gave him Burnside's prints, that he had compared those prints with those recovered at the crime scene, and that none of Burnside's prints matched (R 1450-52). The court ruled that the discovery objection was untimely (R 1461). Barrett argues that the ruling was erroneous and that the court's failure to conduct an adequate Richardson v. State, 246 So.2d 771 (Fla. 1971), inquiry constitutes per se reversible error.

The defense did not request a <u>Richardson</u> inquiry until another witness, JoAnn Sanders, had testified (R 1456). It is clear that where an objection is made to the testimony of a witness offered on direct examination and the complaining party, afterward, on cross examination of such witness, causes such evidence to be repeated, and develops it by bringing out further details of the transaction, the original objection is considered abandoned. Killingsworth v. State, 90 Fla. 299, 105 So. 834 (1925). A failure to object at trial contemporaneously with the admission of contested evidence is a waiver of right of appellate review of that issue. <u>DeLuca v. State</u>, 384 So.2d 212 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980). At the time of the testimony, the defense did not object, but inquired as to the circumstances of the fingerprint comparison on cross examination. After, defense counsel only moved for mistrial which was denied (R 1453). It was not until after the entire testimony of a subsequent witness had been completed that the idea of asking for a <u>Richardson</u> inquiry occurred to defense counsel (R 1456). Clearly this issue has been waived for appeal.

Although appellant claims that per se reversible error has occurred because the trial court did not conduct an adequate Richardson hearing, the record reflects otherwise. The court specifically took a fifteen minute break in order to take care of matters outside the presence of the jury (R 1456). When the defense belatedly requested such a hearing, the court did entertain argument. Although the judge indicated that he thought the request was untimely he listened to the arguments of counsel stating, "...let's get to the point of the material, as far as -their alleging ... " (R 1458). The judge then made full inquiry (R 1458-1461). That the judge ultimately determined that his initial position that the request was untimely was correct does not mean that he failed to hold a <u>Richardson</u> hearing. This is a case where the trial judge did hold a Richardson hearing and found no discovery violation requiring further inquiry, even though he did not incant those words. Cf. Heath v. State, 594 So.2d 332 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992).

- 81 -

The defense did not ask for a recess to examine the prints or present them to an expert even though such would have been unopposed by the state (R 1459-1461). Defense counsel also failed to take the opportunity to demonstrate possible prejudice the defendant and cannot now complain of a Richardson to violation. Henry v. State, 519 So.2d 84, 86 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). Burnside's presence at the house was not at all an issue in the case until Barrett made it so by his testimony. The state could not timely have presented the defense with an opportunity to look at the prints since Lieutenant Strickland had only received them the night before for examination and the state did not have the evidence prior to the time of the witness testimony (R 1458). Thus, it was not the withholding of the information, but the discovery of it, which could possibly have created a problem for defense counsel. The defense presented absolutely no evidence its preparation would have been different had the that undisclosed evidence been available before trial. Lack of prejudice is clearly apparent on the record. See, Smith v. State, 499 So.2d 912 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). It is clear that counsel would not have changed from a defense of innocence to some other defense in the face of a client's claim of innocence and where, as here, such defense was not diminished. Testimony wss only elicited as to the comparison with prints found on the beer cans. Barrett, himself, testified that he drank the Bud Dry and while Scott was in the house he did not drink beer (R 1367-1369). There was no reason for the jury to believe that Scott's prints would have been found in the house any more than Barrett's even if they believed that Scott was the murderer.

- 82 -

III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY OVERRODE THE JURY'S RECOMMENDATION OF SENTENCES OF LIFE IMPRISONMENT AND SENTENCED BARRETT TO DEATH.

Barrett contends that Judge Thurman erroneously overrode the jury recommendation because: 1) pursuant to Tedder v. State, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975), the evidence must be reviewed in a light most favorable to the recommendation to determine which aggravating factors were proved to exist beyond a reasonable doubt and which mitigating considerations could reasonably have been found to exist by the jury and the aggravating and mitigating considerations must be weighed to determine whether the life recommendation was reasonable 2) the jury could have reasonably concluded that the state failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that several of those factors applied to Barrett 3) several of the aggravating factors overlapped and the jury would not assess weight to those factors that pertain to the same aspect of the crime; murder for pecuniary gain, a cold, calculated and premeditated murder without pretense of moral or legal justification, a murder to disrupt or hinder the lawful exercise of a governmental function or enforcement of laws, and a murder committed to avoid lawful arrest 4) co-defendant Dorsey Sanders' life sentences for the same crimes were entitled to weight in mitigation because the jury could reasonably have concluded that Barrett was not the person who did the actual killings and that, instead, Burnside committed the killings with the help of someone other than Barrett 5) the trial court's unauthorized factual determination that Barrett was the actual

killer is a deviation from its role under Tedder 6) the fact that the jury could reasonably have concluded that Barrett was not the actual murderer constitutes a compelling distinction between this case and Zeigler v. State, 580 So.2d 127 (Fla. 1991), upon which the trial court relied 7) intoxication was not a mitigating 8) the rejection of intoxication as factor in Zeiqler a mitigating factor in this case was arbitrary and erroneous based on idle speculation that Barrett's drinking was to fortify his resolve to commit the murders or bathe his conscience and the evidence reflects he drank at least a twelve-pack of beers before the murder; his drinking was a result of pressure being put on him to commit the murders and escalated in June and became horrible in July; and that when Barrett attended classes he was a good student and sober but when he asked how to construct a silencer he was upset and had been drinking; the jury could have reasonably concluded that Barrett had been drinking all day, did not think anything would happen because Mrs. Sanders had left and because of his intoxication did not know what to do when Burnside and another person showed up at Sanders' house and began killing people 9) the jury could have concluded that Burnside was the triggerman and dominant figure and that Barrett and the others involved were far less culpable 10) the jury could have reasonably convicted Barrett of the first-degree murders based on a principal theory and in doing so considered his lack of intent that four people be killed 11) the trial judge found that Barrett had no significant history of prior criminal activity and such was a reasonable basis for the jury to recommend life sentences

and such factor suggests that the criminal conduct was not in true character for Barrett and also indicates that he has real potential to adapt to prison life and/or to be rehabilitated 12) the jury could have based its life recommendation on the fact that Barrett was a good father and provider and had a history of being gainfully employed 13) though the judge may be at liberty to disregard such evidence as a mitigating consideration if the jury recommends the death penalty, the jury here could have found mitigating worth in Barrett's patriotism, service, and his explanation of why he received a general discharge and his continuing allegiance to his country by declining to elaborate on what type of duties he performed while stationed overseas because such information was classified.

In reviewing a trial court's override of a jury's recommendation of a sentence of life imprisonment, this court must decide, after considering the totality of the circumstances, that the life recommendation is reasonable; if it is not, the death sentence should be vacated but, if it is not, the death sentence should be affirmed. <u>Cooper v. State</u>, 581 So.2d 49 (1991). The jury's recommendation of life imprisonment in the present case was unreasonable.

The sentencing order reflects that the judge analyzed each aggravating circumstance and determined which ones were applicable and proven beyond a reasonable doubt (R 4923-4924). The judge also looked at the offered mitigation to determine which mitigating considerations were proven and could reasonably have been found to exist by the jury (R 4924-4925). Contrary to

- 85 -

Barrett's assertion, the aggravating and mitigating circumstances weighed to determine if should not have been the life recommendation was reasonable. The issue, rather, is whether no reasonable person could differ on what penalty should be imposed. See, Ferry v. State, 507 So.2d 1373, 1377 (Fla. 1987). No reasonable person could be said to differ where, as here, evidence of mitigation is minuscule in comparison to the enormity of the crimes committed. See, Zeigler v. State, 580 So.2d 127 (Fla. 1991).

Appellee has argued elsewhere in this brief the applicability of the aggravating factors and since appellant has not specifically attacked any new aggravating factors appellee will not rehash arguments made in other points.

The aggravating factors do not overlap. The sentencing court's findings, as aggravating circumstances, that the murders of Wilson and Clark were cold, calculated and premeditated and that the murders of Wilson, Clark, Hemingway and Johnson were committed for pecuniary gain were not based on the same essential feature of the contract killings with which Barrett was charged or of Barrett's character, and did not improperly double up aggravating circumstances based on the same facts, since Barrett was motivated by a desire for pecuniary gain and the murders of Wilson and Clark were planned and carried out in a premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. <u>See, Echols v. State</u>, 484 So.2d 568 (Fla. 1985). Striking the pecuniary gain factor as to Wilson and Clark would still leave this factor present as to Hemingway and Johnson, in any event,

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